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DECISION OF THE HEARING OFFICER

L PRCCEDURAL HISTORY
| On May 8, 2015, Complainant Kevin O’Leary filed a charge of disability '

_ discrimination agains;c the Brockton Fire Department and Deputy Chief Brian Nardelli.
Complainant alleges that he was not provided with 2 reasonable accomﬁodation and
was éubj ected to a hostile work environment a}fter giving the Fire Depa@eﬁt a copy of
a neuropsychological evaluation diagnosing him with a learning disability. Complainant
does not make a clainiA for l.ost wages, | I

A probablq cause finding was issued and the matter was certified for a public
heari.ng. | | |
| A public hearing was heid on September 5, 7,8,and 11,2017, The vfollowing '

\;vitnesses testified at the hearing: Complainant, Richard Francié, Scott Albanese, Paul

Linscott, and Thomas Goodale.




Based on all the credible evidence that I find to be relevant to the issues in dispute
and based on the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, I make the following findings
and conclusions.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Complainant Kevin O’Leary is a resident of Brockton, MA. He received honorable
discharges from both the United States Marine Cofps and the Mariné Reserves and is a
certified medical technician (CMT), Whi.le serving in Vthe Marine Reserves in 1998,
Complaineint suffered a lumbar-sacral strain causing a 10% imﬁairment for which he

-feoeivéd a djsébled veteran’s iareference in regard to civil service employment, Exfu’bit
- Y at 62,293, Complain‘aht’s lumbar-sacral impairment is not at issue in .this‘ case.

2. Prior to the events at issue, Complainant earned a bachelor’s degllee in criminal justice,

- a master’s degree in criminal justice, and an associate 6f science dégree in-nursing.
Transcﬁpt, Day 1 at 53; Day 2 at 38. Cbmplainaﬁt also completed a master’s thesis in
criminal jus'tice with the help of a paid mentor, Tr;mscript,, Day 2 at 58.

3. Prior to the events ét issue, Complainant worked for sei{eral ambulance services as a
certiﬁed EMT and paramedic. Transcript, Day 1 at 4I~.43. He also worked as a - :
security ofﬁcey for .Curry College and Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) from
2003 to 2015, Transcript, Day 1 at 36; Day 2 at 3-5. .

4. Between 2008 and 2010, Complainant receivedlinpatient care at ArEour~Fuller Hospital
in Attelboro, MA for substance -abuse, depression, and suicidal ideation. Around that
time he began to attend Alcoholics Anbnymous. Transcript, Day 2 at 73. He testified

that he had “good sobriety” from July 2010 to February or'April 2014.




5. In 2011, Complainant was bypaséed for appointment to a vacancy on the Brockton Fire
Department by Brdcl&on Fire Chief Richard Francis. Chiéf Frgncis served on the
Brockton Fire Department from 1978 to 2015 and was Fire Chief from 2010 to 2015.
Transcript, Day 2 at 167. Chief Francis bypassed‘Complainant in 2011 for: a) omitting

, té mention a failed drug test administered by the Quincy Police Department which
resulted in his non-.appointment as a Quincy Police Officer in 2003 and his dismissél
from ‘the‘Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority Police Training Academy in
2065; b) having a history of alcohol abuse, including OUIS and a 2008 hdspitalization
f(;r alcohol-induced depression; and c) having a poor driving history. Exhibit Y at 23,
90, 133, 136, 294-295. Complainant appéaled his 2011 bypass as a Brc;ckton ﬁreﬁghterl
to the Massachusetts Civil Service Commission which ﬁpheld the bypass.

6. In 2013', Complainant was interviewed for another gound of vacancies at the Brockton
Fire Department. He waé selected on this occasion by Chief Francis. According to.
Chief Franbis, he decided to hire‘Complainént based‘ on Complainant’s membership in
Alcoholics Anonymous for three years and his sobriety during the three-year period..

7. Following his appointment as a Brockton firefighter, Complainant was assigned to the |
Department’s Training Divisién to attend a three-month drill school beginﬁing onAor
around January 2, 2014, Exhibit S. Drill school is taught by instructors from both the
Massachusetts Fire Academy and the Brocton Fire Department. Instructors provide
academic training and conduct drills and simulatipns. chru'its perform both pumping
and ladder operations. They.are required to achieve competence in both és measured
by written exams and practical (live fire) exercises in order to be able to fill in for each

other. Transcript, Day 1 at 103; Day 3 at 45, 47-49; Day 9 at 40, According to Captain
‘ 3




Linscott, pumping skills are critical because pumping cpersttions get water to a fire.
Transcript, Dety 4 at 37.

-8, Dirill school recruits are given.academic tests once a week. Complainant testified that
his academic average on the tests was “mid-range” which he deﬁne(t as C+or B.
Transcript, Day 1 at 99. Chief Francis testified that Complainant’s performance was

" the lowest in the class but no documents were submitted to verify Chief Francis’s
claim, Transcript, Dajr 1 at 99, 123,

9. Respondent Brian Narcteili was at all relevant times a Brockton Deputy Fire Chief. ﬁe
was in charge of training new recruits until March or April 2014 when Deputy Scott
Albanese replaced him as Tralmng Director. Transcript, Day 2 at 171- 172 Day 3 at 96. -
Respondent Nardelli attended, but did not testify, in this proceeding.

10. The Trainjng Director monitors the progress of firefighter recrnits. Id. at 170. Atthe

| start of drilll school, Chief Francis and Deputy Nardelli instructed tecruits to teport
learning disabitities for which they needed aocornrnodations.l Transcript, Day 2 at 120;
Exhibit Y at 234. Complainant asserts that he informed Deputy Nardelli of his learning
disability a day or two later. Transcript, Day 1 at 103-106; Day 2 at 120. I do not
credit this assertion. - Instead, I credit that Deputy Nardelli and Compleinant had a
discussion on day eight of drill school ~r:tbout wiry Complainant was having difficulties
and only then did Complainant acknowledge that he had a documented learning

disability. Transcript, Day 3 at 57; Exhibit S. Complainant delayed in reporting his

! The Rules and Regulations for the Recruit Training Program state that: “All Recruits are encouraged to
inform the Training Division of any learning disabilities that may impede the recruits learning ability, on
the first day of classes, Reasonable accommodations may be made if the approved documentatlon of that
disability is brought forth.” Exhibit W,

. 4




11.

disability out of concern that it would not be “‘accepted” but thereafter revealed it after
having more difﬁculty' than he anticipated. Transcript, Day 1 at 104.

After informing Deputy Nardelli of his learning disability, Complainant submitted a

_ neuropé.ychologidal evaluation drafted by Dr. Neal MeGrath, Ph.D. Exhibit Y.

Complaiﬁant obtained the evaiuaﬁon in 2006 in order to address trouble he was having
with unde.rgraduate science éourses such as chemistry. Transcript, Day 2 at 32-33. II},
or around 2006, Complainant was taking Ritalin, but he stopped taking the medication
because of side effects. Transqriﬁt, Day 2 at 147. Dr. McGrath administered a battery
of diagnostic tests which placed Complainant in the lov;f-average range of nonverbal
intellectuai function and the 10v§~average to average range for working memory span.
Exhibit Y._ Aécording to Dr. McGrath, these scores are “significantly lower” than
Complainant’s verbal scores. ’fhe neuropsychological evaluation also contains é self-
reported inventory of traits and symptoms consistent with a diagnosis of Attention
Deficit Disorder (inattentive type). Id. at 4-6. Dr. MéGrath concluded that
Complainant appeared to have a mild disability in regard to nonVerbai learning,
exacerbated by difficulties with inattention which impeded thg synthesis of new
information in areas such as math and science. Id. Dr. McGrath additionally stated
that Cpmplainant “struggles with anxiety and depression” and assessed Complainﬁnt in
the moderate-to-severe range of depression with concentration difficulties. Id. at 3, 5.
Dr. McGrath noted that the daily use of Ritalin or other medication for Attention

Deficit Disorder would significantly improve Complainant’s attentional errors. Id. at 6.

‘Dr, McGrath suggested that Complainant reconsider pursuing higher education in areas

that are “not a natural strength for him” and recommended the following
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12.

13.

accommodatipns:' extended time on timed tests, alquiet environment for test-taking, an
individual tutor, continved treatment for depression and'ina&entiveness, and devéloping
the habit of re»checking work fof attentional errors. Id. at.pp.- 6-7. |

According to Complainant, Deputy Nardelli said, ‘.‘Don_’t think this is going to rhake
anything easier for sf,ou.” Transcript, Day 1 at 108; Day 2 at 128. Complainant asserts -
that he did dot receive a respohse from anybody in the Department in regard to his
neuropsychological evaluation and that no one asked him how the Department could
help him learn. Transcript, Day 1 at 108, 140, 180; Day 2 at 121-122, 125. 1 credit thls
assertion. | |

Chief Francis testified that after he was shown the neuropsychological report, he asked

‘Complainant, “What else do you need? Is there something we’re not providing you?”

and received no response. Transcript, Day 3 at 23. I do not credit this assertion

because: 1) Chief Francis testified elsewhere that he could not remember discussing

" reasonable accommodations with Complainant; 2) he deferred to Deputy Nardelli, who

14,

-declined to testify, regarding the specifics of the reasonable accommodations provided

to Cdmplainant; and 3) he maintained that Complainant could have received extré
assistance frpm iﬁstructors ‘who stayed late approximately once per yveek to assist any
recruits who needed help. '.[-“ranscript, Day 3 at 23, 34, 36-37, 61. 1find 1;hat
Complainanf did not receive any assiétance during recruit school that differed from, or
was more speciaﬁzed than, the generic assistance made available to all membérs of the
recruit class.

Complainant asserts that after he submitted his neuropsychological evaluation, he was

treated differently, Transcript, Day 1 at 109. Complainant claims that Captain Foye
6




was always “at [him] for something” and began to address him in a sarcastic manner

- such as asking if he knew the difference between his right and left hands and asking

15.

16.

him which hand he used to “jerk off” after a fire extingtlisher drill in which
Complainant used the wrong hand to operate a piece of equipment. Transcript, Day 1
at 110-112, 115. According to.Complainant, the stress from the hostile treatment
caused him to make mistakes and forget things. Transcript, Day 2-at 110, 116. 1 credit
Complaina.nt’ s testimony.

Complainant and four other recruits in his dritl sohool class did not successfully pass

Firefighter I and Il exams on their first attempt. Transcript, Day 1 at 117. The exams

-are administered by the Massachusetts Fire Academy during drill school. Transcript,

Day 1 at 115-116. The exams test an applicant’s knowledge of drill school subjects.
Complainaﬁt and tlte four other recruits who failed the tests were allowed to proceed to
fire station ass1gnments when drill school ended. Complainant re-took the exams
approximately two months Iater after studying suggested materials and passed them on
his second att_empt in May 2014. Transcript, Day 1 at 117-118. <Comp1a1nant s Exhibit
1. Tho other four recruits were sent back for ro»training in lieu of termination.
Transcript, D.ay 1 at 168; Day 2 at 160-161. |

As a probationary ﬁreﬁghtor, Complainant was assigned to three different “two-piece”
fire stations in order to learn how to operate both ladder and engine trucks. Transcript,

Day 4 at 24-25. Probatiooary firefighters rotate through three stations in order to learn

“how to handle a spectrum of matters such as helping citizens, extinguishing fires,

handling overdoses, dealing with traffic accidents, and responding to medical calls.

Transcript, Day 4 at 50-51, 55.




17. Complainant’s first éssigmnent; beginning on March 24, 2014, was at Station 1 where
he reported to Capfain Shawn Kerr. Exhibit D While at Station 1, Complainant
worked on both a ladder truck and an engine. Transcript, Day 1 at 140, 173. When
Complainant Worked on the ladder truek, he typically responded o medical calls or
climbed ladders to inspect roofs. Transcripf, Day 1 at 140-141., When he worked on a

| squad truck/engine, he performed pumping operations. Id. at 144, Complainant

| remained at Station 1 until- June 1, 2014. Id. at 145, Hé perforrnéd pumping drills on
seve'ral occasions under the direction of Lt. Mclean, Id. at 170. Coniplainaﬁt testi_ﬁed
that Lt, Mclean’s efforts td assist him were genuine; however, Complainant also
asserted that he was purposely misled when told to initiate éction at a'medical call
rather than wait for a more senior officer to db so. Transcript, Day. 1 at 126, 170-171.

18. Complainant testified that duﬁng his tenure at Station 1 he felt unwelcome and was |
ostracized, Transcript, Day 1 at 125. He claims that he was subjected to more pranks
t.han other firefighters and that the prénks were mean—spi.rited rat.her- than huﬁorous.

* Transceript, Day 1 at 13;7. Complainint described having buckets of water dumped on
him “pretty much constant[ly].” ‘;Trans‘cript, Déy 1 at 127. According to Complainant, |
buckets were set up to fall on him from the second-floor windows of the fire hﬁuse,
from the top and inside of the ladder truck, and from the opening of the fire pole. |
Transcript, Day 1 at 128-129. Complainant testified that on one occasion when he
baked a cake and served a piece to a‘fe.:llow ﬁreﬁgﬂter, Deputy Nardelli. said, “What did °
you do that for? He’s the reésoﬁ why you’re rﬁnning around here soaking wet all the
time.” Transcript, Day 1 at 130. Complainant asserts that on one occasion wheq he

returned fo the fire house in the middle of the night from a call, he found a 210 pound
8




19.

20.

dummy strapped in his bed. Transcript, Day 1 at 130-131. He described other
incidents in which “dead lc;bsters” were placed in his coat pockets, his bed was propped
up on soda cans, the tires of his car were placed on wooden blocks, and he was spraﬁzed
with chemical spray from a fire extinguisher. Id. at 132-135, 155. Complainant states
that he was given the “cold shoulder” every day and that no one would talk to him. Id.
at 138. He claims that the pranks he Was subjected to were humiliating__and tﬁat they
made it difficult for him to concentrate at work. Id. at 136. Cbmplainant testified that
the treatment depressed him and made him feel like no one liked him. Id. He stated
that he did not report his treatment because he thought complaining would make things

worse. Id. at 139. Aécording to Complainant, Captain Kerr was aware of the situation

“because on one occasion, water that was intended for Complainant hit Captain Kerr. Id.

at 138. I credit these assertions.
Accordmg to the credible testzmony of Chief Francls and Captam Goodale, everybody

is a victim of fire house pranks at some pomt Transcript, Day 3 at 41; Day 4 at 96.

Captain Linscott claimed that firefighters generally prank individuals they like and

igndre individuals they don’t like, Transcript, Day 4 at 31. I do not credit this
testimony, nor do [ cfedit the statement of Chief Francis that if an individual doesn’t
want to be subjected to pranks, he/she can inform a company officer and the praﬁking
will stop. Transcript, Day 3 at 42, 73-74. 1 {ind that Complainant was subjected to
more and meaner pranks than thoée visited upon others. |

At the conclusion of Corﬁpﬁainant’s first rotation, Captain Kerr drafted a réport
describing Compla"inant as respectful énd punctual but unable to grasp tasks despite

daily and individualized training in the basic fundamentals of ladder and squad

9




21.

company operations. Exhibits F & N.- Captaiﬁ Kerr stated that Complainant exhibited
a lack of attention to-detail and an inability to ,accomplisﬁ tasks despite training. ”
According to Céptain Kerr, Deputy Nardelli and Chief Francis, Complainant was
sf;udying for his nursing certification exam rather than familiarizing himself with fire

equipment during his free time at the station. Transcript, Day 3 at 10-1 1. Deputy

. Nardelli and Chief Francis told Complainant not to bring nursing materials to the

22.

station and to use his free time tg become familiar w1th fire tools, hose ﬁﬁinés, and fire
trucks. Transcript, Day 1 at 155. Complainant claims that he only studied nursing
material after passing his Firefighter I'and II exams and only did so while c;thers
watched TV or read magazines. Transcript Day 1 at 154. He I:ikéwise maintains that

while he continued to work an occasional overnight shift as a security officer at MGH

during his probationary period, he only did so on weekends when the shifts did not

conflict with his responsibilities as a probationary ﬁreﬁgﬂter'. Transcript, Day 2 at 2-7.
On June 1, 2014, Complainant started his second assign;nent at Station 2 on E‘ngine‘Z
and Ladder 2, reporting to Captain Paul Linscott. Transcript, Day 4 at 49; ﬁxhibit F, p.
2. Captain Linscott provided Complainapt with nUMErous practical drills because
Complainant said that he learned through repetition. Transcript, Day 3 at 107-109; Day
4 at 29. According to Complainant, the amount of driiling increased to the point that he
felt the drills physically and mentally wore him out. Transcript, Day 1 at 176,
Complainant acknowledged that the gmount of pranidng he was subjected to decreased
about “fifty notches™ at Station 2 but étated that the constant drilling became part of the .
hazing. Traﬁscript-, Day 1 at 169-171. He stated that other c.rew members didn’t want

to participate in his drills. Id. at 179. He asserted that dﬁiling on different equipment
: 0




23.

24,

confused him and that the drills lacked a methodical process. Id. at 173, 175-178.
Complainant acknow@edééd that the emotional intensity of the drills was ix_ltende& to
mimic the stress of a rfaal fire but claimed that ’Fhe intensity of the Station 2 drills was |
“‘nervé—wracking.” Id. at 178. .

Captﬁin Linscott claims that he did not know about Complainaﬁt’s learning disability.

Transcript, Day 4 at 29. He described Complainant as slow, nervous, and mistake-

_prone. Transc_rilﬁt Day 4 at 11-24. He described various errors committed by

Complainant almost daily such as reversing discharge and intake lines, “charging”

attack lines under pressure (i.e., sending water into hoses under pressure) which causes

the line to flip around, and failing to put trucks into pump mode. Transcript, Dé.y'4 at
12-24, 32-36.
According to Captain Linscott, Complainant appeared to be arrogant and “borderline”

insubordinate. Transcript, Day 4 at 6, 11-12. Captain Linscott testified that on one

“occasion when Complainant answered a question from a police officer about a domestic

violence victim and was later instructed that he was not qualified to answer the
question, he responded that he “thought it was a persdnal conver;sation.’_’ Id. at 7.
Captain Linscott said that on another occasion when he attempted to show Complainant
how to fight a brush fire in the woods using “pump cans,” Complainant said ﬁe didn’t
think the‘ techniqué worke& “that well,” used body léngliage that showed he lacked
ip’;erest in the operatién, complained to a police officer about having to practice the
technique, and took a shower when he returned to the fire house while the rest of the
men were getting the hose and truck ready fqr the next response. Id. at 9-1 1. |

Complainant admits that he may have rolled his eyes and that he took a five-minute

11




shower upon returning to quarters, but denies saying that the cans were “a waste of
time,” states that no one eirer told him he couldn’t take a quick shower, and notes that
he spent three hours servicing the truck and stolwing equipment after showering. Id. at
151-153. |

25, Deputy Albanese, who fook .over' from Depufy Nardelli as Training Director in March
2014, claims fhat he was not aware that Complainant héd a leaminé disability.
Transcript, Day .3 'at 137. Deputy Albanese déscribed Complainant as reséectful; polite,
and never insubordinate but as Iackiﬁg attention to detail and not se;lf-motivated‘ 1d; .
Exhibit F. Deputy Albanese’s wriﬁen reviews of Complainant’s first two rotations -
assert that Complainant studied for his nursing certiﬁcation instead of learning his job
asa flreﬁghter and maintains that fellow firefighters were upset that their efforts to

 assist Coﬁlplainant were not appreciated. Exhibité F & N. Deputy Albanese wrote that

during a pump drill in April 2014, Complainant twice failed to properly unroll a hose
despite Being corrected the ﬁrst time; that .during an attack (pump drillin June 2014,

" Complainant failed to put Eﬁgine 2 “in pump” and was “painfully slow” in getting a
water suppiy despi:ce practicing fhis operation numerous times; that durix.lg.:r a pump .driil
the following week, Complainant- did not know which line to charge in order to feed
En_giﬁe 11, forgot to put the truck “in pump” and delayed getting water to Engine 11;
and that in J uly 2014, Complainant confused discharge and intake openings and on
Iﬁultiple occasiéns when attefnpting to connect dpoﬂable hydrant, did so backwards.
Exhibit F. |

. 26. Captain Linscott testified tha‘c although he tried to “calm down” Complainant after

~unsuccessful drills and arranged for Complainant to work with non-ranked firefighters
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who were less intimidating than ranked officers, he rejected Complainant’s suggestion
that he write out the steps required in firefighting operations in order to demonstra;te
fhat he knevw what he was supposed to do. According to Captain Linsooﬁ, Complainant
néeded to perform the steps, not describe them in writing. Trans_cript,- Day 1 at 149;

Day 2 at 134-135; Day 4 at 17.

27. Cbmplaiﬁant was more comfortable performing the EMS portion of his job than

pumping operations due to his medical training. He participated in resuscitating

numerous people, set up and used a defibrillator, and revived a victim of a drug-

.overdose by placing an oral pharyngeal airway into her throat and administering

Narcan. Transcript, Day 1 at 141-142. However, Deputy Albanese, Captain Linscott,

. and Captain Goodale maintained that Cornplainant displayed a tendency to “over-

28.

peffonn,” i.e., to diagnose patients rather than to p;ovide emergency treatment,
Transcript, Day 3 at 149; Day 4 at 65, 7.1; Exhibits F & 1.

On June 20, 2014, durinlg his 'gssignment at Station 2, Complainant was late fof wofk
because he left his car (with his uniform inside) at a bar on-the ‘previous night. Exhibits
E&F. Because'Coniplainaﬁt &rank .aloohol the prior evening, he got a ride home and
the next morning ha& to retrieve his car from the bar before going to w.c)rk. Trénscript,
Day 1 at 159-160; Day 2 at 88-89. Complainant testified that he was, at most, five-to-
ten minutes late and was able to participatej in the first run of the truck. Id. at 161.
Complainant states that he tﬁlthfull.y related to supervisors what happened after
returning from the run, IE. at 162-163. According to Complainant, Deputy Nardelli

said, “the Chief stuck his neck out for you. ... If it were up to me, I would have fired

B you.” and then told him {o “Get the F... out of here.” Id. at 165-166. Captain Linscott, |

13




29.

30.

who was in the room, conﬁrmea that Deputy Né.rdélli was “not i)leased” and yelled at
Complaiﬁant. Transcript, Day 4 at 66-68. Chief Francis told Corﬁplainant that he
shouldn’t be drinking Whilé pursuing a career as a firefighter and told Complainant to
go back to Alcoholics Anonymous. Transeript, Day 3 at 14. Complainant admits that,

on occasion, he drank alcohol during his time as a probationary firefighter but claims

- that it did not impact his work aside from the day he was late. Transcript, Day 2 at 79,

83.

Captain Linscott rated Complainant as adequate on ladder operations and medical calls.

Transcript, Day 4 at 59. However, at the end of Complainant’s second rotation, Captain

Linscott concluded that Complainant could still not adequately perform the most basic

pump drills and that his weaknesses posed a danger to those working alongside of him. -
Transcript, Day 4 at 59-66, 70; Exhibit I. According to Captain Linscott, being able to |
pump is “absolutely” an essential function of the job. Id. and Day 4 at 37. .Captain
Linscott testified that whlen ladder trucks need répairs, tliey arf; replaced by engines, .
requiring ladder‘ personnel to know hﬁw to operate engiﬁes. Transcript, Day 4 at 39.
For this reason, and to cover vﬁéaﬁoniné ﬁreﬁghters, all individuals at “two;piéée”
stations are cross—trainea and must know how to perform pumping operations,
Co‘mplainant’s third assignment began on August 4, 2014. ExhibitJ. He was assigned
to Station 4, Enginé 4 ynder the supervision of Captain Goodale. Ina 2015 letterto a
fellow firefighter, Complainant stated that Captain Goodale was “[t]ﬁe oﬂly persdn I
worked for that may have adtually {ried té help me.” Exﬁibit X. Complainaﬁt testified

that under Captain Goodale, he started to feel mOre}comfortable performing pumping
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- 31

operations because Captain Goodale’s approach to training was slower and less intense.

Transeript, Day 1 at 181.

Captain Goodale testiﬁed that he was not aware that Complainant had a disability while
he was at Statilon 4, Trahscriiat, Day4 at 87. Captain Goodale’s repérts describe
Complainant as “v-ery likeable and easy to get aiong with” who “fits in well with my
crew” and “does a very good job on medical calls” but is “not a self-starter,” is “stand-
‘Ofﬁsh,” lacks an aptitude for the mechanical aépects of the job, and had a “very big
weakness” in pumping operations. Transcript, Day 4 at 1_34; Exhibits J & K. When

asked if Complainant was respectful, Captain Goodale replied “very much so0.”

' Trah_script, Daﬁr 4 at 114. Captain Goodale reported that Complainant was unable to

calculate engine pressures, nozzle pressures, or friction losses and opined that
Complainant’s performance was “worrisome to say the least.” Exhibits J& K.

Capta.in Goodale’s final report states that Complainant was unable to “dress™ a hydrant,
could not “charge a boostér line,” had very p;)or math skills, had no aptiﬁ;de for using

tools, lacked physical stamina, and on one occaston failed to wear breathing apparatus

‘ata fire. Id. According to Captain Goodale, Complainant was a danger to fellow crew

meﬁbers. Id. Captain Goodale testified at fhe public hearing that Complainant’s

problem area was pumping which he described as a “paramount” job duty. Transcript,

Day 4 at 79-80, 88. He stated that Complainant failed to corﬁpcnsate for his difficulty
in computing e;igine pressures by memorizing pre-determined pressures. Transcript,
Day'4 at 83, 106—107; Captain Goodale states thaf he tried to find new approaches to
teaching Compl_a_inant pumping operations and calculating engine pressures, but

couldn’t get through to Complainant. Transcript, Day 4 at 82, Captain Goodale
' 15




32.

testified that Complainant ﬁaé a “really nice guy” but was unable to perform the job of-
firefighter. E.lat 80, 85. According to Captain Goodale, Complaingnt was drilled on
pump operations “over ’a‘md over” and “at gvery possible opﬁo_rtunity” inan
unsuccessful effort to improve his performance. Exhibits K & L.

During Complainant’s third assignment, theﬂ-Tfaining Director Albanese, observed
him during a pump drill on August 15, 2014. Deputy Albanese reported that

Complainant was unable to operate a portable deck gun in order to obtain a water

supply despite the 6peration having been covered “multiple times” in drill school.

Exhibit M. According to Deputy Albanese, Complainant did not know the pressure

required for the operation despite receiving a hydraulics card in drill school which he

~ was expected to study and learn. Id.

33.

34,

Based on his own observations and the reports of other supervisors, Deputy Albanese
wrote to Chief Francls on Aﬁgust 21,2014 thét Complainantvdid not demonstrate
sufficient effort, did not pay sufficient zittentioﬁ to details, could not perfonﬁ basic
operations despéte training, and was either unable or unwilling to successfully perform
the job of firefighter. Exhibit F. Atthe public hearing,r Deputy Albanese
acknowledged that Complainant was respectful and polite but stated that he could not
think on his feet, “wasn’t grasping it,” and failed to master the basic opérations taught
in drill school. Transcript, Day 3 at 110, 119; Exhibit F, p.2. Deputy Albanese
disputed that training could have been made less stressful on the basis that stresé isa
necessafy part of the job.

After learning of Deputy Albanese’s evaluation, Chief Francis wrote to Complainant on

September 4, 2014 stating that he would be terminated or would have his probationary
| 16 | |




35.

36.

37.

period extended if he failed to gain proﬁciéncy in the following areas: performing
standard pumping drills, identifying and using tools, and driving/operating ap.paratus. |
Exhibit Y, p: 231. |

Complainant testified that he felt buﬂ«ied_, intimidated, and demeaned by Chief Francis’s
letter of September 4, 2014. He claimed that Deputy Nardelli was “laughing in my
face” when he delivered it. Transcript, Day 1 at181-182.

After Complainant completed his third rotation, he was assigned back to Station 2
under Captain Linscott, Transéript, Day 4 at 25.

Deputy Albanese arranged fora “large-scale” drill to be held on Névember 24,2014
involving timed scenarios, multiple trucks, and numerous people to test Complainaﬁt’s
progress. Exh_ibit Y, p. 282; Transcript, Day 1 at 1'824186;' Day 3 at 125, Dei)uty
Albanese described the drill as consisting of basic evolutions which probationary
ﬁreﬁghters are expected to perform. Traﬂscript, Diay 3at 125. Acéord_iﬁg to Deput-y

Albanese, Complainant became “discombobulated” during the first three evolutions.

Id. at 126. Depufy Albanese claims that Complainant failed to supply water because he

used the wrong radio channel, failed to properly calculate pumping pressures, failed to
broperly uncoil hose lines which cauged the lines to strike the truck, parked his engine |
in the wrong location, duﬁped a hosé line on the ground, failed to assist fellow
‘ﬁréﬁghters, failed to close a valve, failed to wear proper gear which caused his

equipment to fall to the grourd, failed to supply tank water while attempting to charge a

line, and needed prompting to shut off drains. Exhibit Y, p. 282-285. Deputy Albanese

stopped the drill because Complainant became “overwhelmed” by his mistakes. Id. . °

Chief Francis, who was present for the drill, concurred that Complainant was incapable
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38.

~of obtaining water in a timely fashion during the pump drﬂl. Transcript Day 3 at 27-28.

According to Comp'lainant, hé gave a “good effort” but became distracted and
intimidated. Transcript, Day 1 at 184-186.

On ﬁecember 4,2014, Chjef Francis received a letter from Deputies Nardelli and
Albanese and Céptains Kerr, Goodale, and Linscott stating .that Complainant had shown
little OI N0 Progress sincg leavingdrill school despite performing numerous drills on
ﬁreﬁghting equipment. Exhibit P. The signatories stated that Compiainant posed a risk

to himself and to others and should not continue to be employed as a firefighter. 1d.

.Deputy Albanese testified that he drafted the letter because he felt that Complainant

was going to hurt himself, other firefighters, or members of the public. Transcript, Day

" 3at131. According to Deputy Albanese, terminating an employee is “virtually non-

-39,

40.

existent” .due to the effort expended during training. Id. at 132-133,

On December 18, 2014, Chief Francis wrote to Brockton Mayc;r Bill Carpenter
recommending that Complainant be terminated I;rior to the conclusion of his
probationary period based on his failure to attain proficiency in fire operatipns and
procedures, Exhibit Q. Chief Fr.ancis testified that he did not éxte-nd Complainant’s
probationary period because h§: did not believe that Complainant’s skills would have
improved if given mdre time. Transcript, Day 3 at 25. .

On Decembei 30 2014, Complainant arrived at work and received a termination letter
stating that he was terminated effeotlve December 29, 2014 — the last day of his

probationary period. Exhlblt A.. The letter cites Complainant’s inability to perform’

-required tasks such as pumping operations, his inability to follow instructions, his
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failure to report to calls properly equipped, and his alleged communication to a
supervising officer that pump can training was a waste of time. Id.”

Complainant describes experience on the Brockton Fire Depariment as a “devastating
thing” which destroyed his life and reputation. Traﬁscript, Day 1'at 191, 195. He
testified that he felt betrayed, embarrassed, and a. different person than he was before,
Id. at 192,195. Complainant testified that his experience hindered him from geﬁing his

sobriety under control. Id. He testified that after being terminated, he found it difficult

o get out of bed for three months, he became very angry, he lost friends, and he had

issues with his short-term memory. Transcript, Day 2 at 142-145, According to

Complaihant, he was forced to stop seeing a'mental health counselor that he had been

 seeing since 2007 because he lost his health insurance; Id. at 145 -146, 158,

42.

43.

After his termination from the Brockton Fire Department, Complainant worked per
diem shifts as security officer for MGH ﬁntil' a full time position as a security officer
became available in May 201 5-. Transcript, Day 2 at 10~1§. ‘He worked there f_uli-time
until resigning in August 2015 in order to study for the National Council Licensure

Exam (N CLEX) for registered nurses which he héd previously taken and failed on two

-o¢casions. Transcript, Day 1 at 45. Complainant passed the exam in April 2016 and

thereafter began to work as a RN at various facilities. He continues to be employed as a
RN,

In Maf 2617, Complainant saw Dr. McGrath for a follow—l_lp evaluation to address the
applicability of Dr, McGrath’s 2006 repott to Complainant‘s experience as a

probationary firefighter. Complainant’s Exhibit 8. Dr. McGrath opined that

‘Complainant’s 2006 diagnosis of a learning disability would have been a “limiting
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condition” in regard to a firefighting job. lc_i.l In his 2017 report, Dr. McGrath gives his
clinical 6pinion that workplace harassment or hazing, such as having buc;kets of water

. dumped on an individual repeatedly, being sprayed with a fire éxtinguisher, énd having
one’s car vandalized would have, more likely than not, ﬁade it more difficult for an
individual with Complainant’s clinicai_ diagnosis to learn departmental pfocedﬁes

during his probationary period. Compla_inant’s Exhibit 8,

I1I. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A, Failure to Accommodate

M.G.L. c. 1518, sec. 4 (16) makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against
a qualified handicapped person. A handicapped person is one who has an impairment
which substantially limits one or more major life activities, has a record of an impaiﬁnent, :
or is r:egarded as having an impairment. See M.G.L. c..ISIB, SeC. 1(17); Massachusetts |

Commission Against Discrimination Guidelines: Employment Discrimination on the Basis

- of Handicap — Chapter 1518, 20 MDLR Appendix (1998) (“MCAD Handicap Guidelines”)
atp. 2. According t0 2008 amendments to the Arﬁericans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),
the term “disability” (i.e., handicgp)_ is to Ee construed in a manner that favors broad :
coverage and disfavors extensive analysis. See ADA Amendments Act of 2008, Public
Law # 110-325, section 2 (b) (5), amendfng Amer.icans'with Disabilities {X_ct of 1990, 42
U.S.C sec. 12101 ef seq. |

Complainant is entitled to the beneﬁf of doqbt on the issue of handicap status based on
his neuropsychological evaluations and his, past struggles with learning and depression. A
2006 report drafted by Dr. Neal McGrath, PhD concludes that Complainant has a disabiiifty

in regard to nonverbal learning which impedes the synthesis of new information in areas
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such as science, that he possesses an inventory of traits and symptomé associated with
Attention Deficit Diéorder, and that he has moderate to severe depression with
concentration difﬁculties. According to Dr. McGrath, Complainant’s Ieafning difficulties
.would have hampered his mastery of ﬁreﬁghting skills. Dr. McGrath’s findings were
updated in a May 2017 report which deemed the 2066 diagnosis to be relevant to
Com.plainant’s expgrienoé as a probationary firefighter,

Apért fronﬁ tﬁe expert opinion of D.r. McGrath, Complainant’s documented ﬁast
struggles with math and science, his low-average diagnostic scores, ihvolving non-verbal
“functions, and the impact of depression on his acquisition of information paint a picture of
an.individual who has labored to acquire obmpetency in nonverbal skills. While ultimately
succeeding in a number of academic pursuits, Complaina.ﬁt did so after failing and re-
taking numerous courées and exams, paying a mentor to assist him in completing a
master’s thesis, and receiving inpatient ca.reAfor substance abuse, depression, and suicidal
ideation. These factors depict an individual whose ébility to grasp new information is
: compromised by neurological deficits, ADD, depression, and the ability to hé.ndle stress.

Compare Wright v. Compusa, Inc., 352 F.3d 472 (1st Cir. 2003) (no handicap where lack

Qf evidence that ADD rendered plaintiff generally unable to perform a usual activity or -
unable to handle stress).

In order to state a case of handicap disctimination based on a failure to accommodate,
Complainant bears the initial burden of producing some evidence to prove that he was a

qualified handicapped person capable of performing the essential functions of his job who

requested a reasonable accommodation. See Russell v. Cooley Dickinson Hospital Inc.,
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437 Mass. 443 (2002); Hall v. Laidlaw Transit Iné., 25 MDLR 207, 213-214, aff"d, 26

MDLR 216 (2004); Mazeikus v. Northwest Airlines, Inc.. 22 MDLR 63 (2000).

A reasonable accommodation is defined as “any adjustment or modification to a job
that makes it possibie fora hahdicapped individual to perform the essential functions of the
position ....” ‘Empﬁlom‘ ent Discrimination on‘the Basis of Handicap, Chapter 151B — 20
-MDLR Appendix (1998), section [I{C) (‘{MCAD Handicap Guidelings”); Ocean Spray

. Cranberries, Inc, v, MCAD, 441 Mass. 632, 648, n.19 (2004). An accommodation is not

reasonable if it would impose an undue hardship on the operation of a business, such as
requiring sigrﬁﬁcant difficulty or expense when corsidered in light of the financial
resourcés of an employer. See Mazeikus, 22 MDLR ét 68_. _

Complainant did not make an explicit request for éreasonable accomumodation, but,
arguably, hi_s submission of a neuropsychological rf.:portAo.n a;ound day eight of drill school
amounted to a de facto request for an accommodation, The report documents his learning
disabilify and provides suggestions fc;r dealing with it. The evaluation was submitted in
response to questions about why Complainénf ‘was having difficulties mast.e.ring training
material. It discloses information about Complainant’s Iﬁast academic ;struggleé, provides a
diagnosis of C‘omplainant as learning disabled, and ‘presents suggestiéi;‘s for overcoming
difﬁculties.

The parties disagree about hovf Brockton Fire officials responded to the
neuropsychological repoft. Complainant asserts that they did nothing whereas‘ Chief
Francis claims that the Fire Depaﬁment made extra fesources available to assist
Complainant during drill school, I credit éomplainant in this regard but nonéﬂléless

recognize that even if the Fire Department failed to accommodate Complainant’s learning
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(disability during drill school, he still succeeded in passing the classroom program. It was
not until Complainant was assigned to on-the-job training at three different “two-picce” fire
stations that he encountered insurmountable difficulties. Notably, atthis stage of his

training there is no evidence that Complainant réquested any accommodations to alleviate

the difficulties he faced. See Oceén Spray C;énberries, Inc. v. MCAD, 441 Mass. 632.
649, n. 21 (2004) (employe; not reéuired to accommodate a need that it does not know
exists).

In any event, the duty to engage in an interactive process will not always pertain to
situations such as the f)resent one where a dialogue would .likely have been futile. See
MBTA v. MCAD, 450 Mass. 327, 342 (2008) (interactive process not recjuiréd where
employer can demonstrate that all concei\}able éccommodations woﬁld impose undue

hardship); Gracia v. Northeastern University, 31 MDLR 1 (2008). Complainant argues that

- his difficulties grasping the essential functions of firefighting might have been ameliorated
had he been given rion—puni’;ive drills presented in a systemic and non-threatening manner,
but the evidence does not supﬁort such a claim. There are sound, job—relafed reasons why
i thg driHs were implemented to mimic the stress of .re‘al life fires. As far as the
repetitiveness of the drills is concerned, Complainént now argues that the consta.nt‘drilling .
was objectionable but du:ihg his probationary period he étated that he learned best through
rep et'itit)n.-
The entire command staff concurred that Complainant’s performance at the station
| houses poséd a risk to _himself and others. They evaluated Complainant as lacking basic
firefighting skills such as the abil_ity to calculate engine pressures, nozzle pressures, and

friction losses; the ability to dress a hydrant, and the ability to charge a booster line. They
| | 23 -




agreed that Complainant was deficient in the “patamount” area of pumping.> Based on the
foregoing, the evidence fails to support Complainant’s position that implementation of an
interactive process exploring reasonable accommodations for Complainant would have led

to his success. See Jones v. Walgreen Co., 679 F.3d 9 (1st Cir. 2012) (duty to

accommodate does not arise unless employee can perform essential functions of jéb ﬁvith
an accommodation); Gracia, 31 MDLR at 6 (employer not required to participate in
fruitless dialogue). |

That an interacfive process would ha've been futile is underscored by the fact that
Complainant contrii;uted to his difficulties at work. He faiied to take medication for ADD
despite pfofessional adyice that he do so daily, failed to memorize catégories of pump
pressures by rote which would have reduced his need for making mathematical
calculations, failed to familiarize himself with firefighting equipment during his free time
at the ﬁré house, and began to dri_nk again after maintaining sobrietylfor three years.
R‘;:lther than aﬁend to ﬁreﬁghting matters during his free ti;ne at the station, Complainant
studied for nursing exams, | These factors foreclose the possibility that Complainant might
have achieved proficiency as a ‘ﬁre,ﬁghter had an interactive process been implemented.‘
Given the established deficiencies in Complainant’s skill set afier a year of training and the

life and death consequences of firefighting, I conclude that Complainant was not a qualified

% In his post hearing brief, Complainant suggests that he could have been accommodated by being relieved of
pumping responsibilities but stich an accommodation is not reasonable because it requires the waiver of an
essential job function. Seg Darit v. Browning-Ferris Industries, Inc., 427 Mass. 1 (1998) (a qualified
handicapped individual must be capable of performing essential fimctions of job with or without reasonable
accommodation); Tate v, Department of Mental Health, 419 Mass. 356, 361 (1995) (same); Cox v. New

.England Telephone & Telegraph Co., 414 Mass 374(1993) (reasonable accommodation doesn’t waive
performance of essential job functions). The factual record in this case provides ample support for the
proposition that pumping operations lie at the heart of firefighting and that pumping skills are an essential

Tunction of the job.
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handicapped individual capable of performing the essential functions of the job with a
reasonable accommodation. Accordingly Complainant failed to establish that Respondeﬁts
" violated G.L.c.151B by failing to accommodate his learning disability.

Disability Harassment

General Law c. 151B affords employees the right to work in an environment free of

discriminatory intimidation that creates a hostile work environment and interferes with

one’s ability to do her jo’b. See Helmuth v Harvard Vanguard Medical Associates, Inc., 27

MDLR 177, 184 citing College-Town v. Diy. of Interco, Inc. v. MCAD, 400 Mass.156

(2001); Scionti v. Eurest Dining Services, 23 MDLR 234, 239 (2001). The protections of
the statute with respect to a sexually-hostile work environment have been extended to

situations where harassment occurs to me:hbers of other protected classes. See Helmuth 27

MDLR at 184 citing Beldo v. Univ. of Mass. Boston 20 MDLR 105 (1995); Richards v.
Bull HL.N. Information S}{stems‘, Inc. 16 MDLR 1639 (1994). |

" In order to establish a claim of discl;iminatory hara.ssmenf, Complainant must show
that that the conduct_ alleged was sufficiently severe and pervasive to interfere with a
reasonable person’s work performance and that the hostile ﬁrork environment wﬁs linked to

his protected class. See Helmuth, 27 MDLR at 184 citing Muzzy v. Cahillane Motors, Inc.

434 Mass. 409 (2001); Cuddyer v. Stop & Shop Supermartket Co. 434 Mass. 521 (2001). A

. hostile work environment is.one that is “pervaded by harassment or abuse, with the

resulting intimidation, humiliation, and stigmatization [that] poses a formidable barrier to

. the full participation of an individual in the workplace.” See College-Town, Division of

Interco, Inc. v. MCAD, 400 Mass. 156, 162 (1987),
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Complai%mnt festified credibly that during his tenure at Station 1 he was subjected to
more pranks than other ﬁreﬁgﬁters, that the pranks were mean-spirited rather than
huimorous, and that he was ostracized rather than included in the collegial life of the station
héuse. Complainant described being constantly assaulted with ;Na'tcr, including bucketjé of
water that were set up to fall on him from second-floor fire house windows, from the top
and il_lside of the ladder truck, and from th¢ opening of lthe fire pole. On one .ocoas_i(_)n
when he returned té the 'ﬁre' house m the middle of the night from a -ca,ll, he found a 210
pound dummy strapped in }ﬁs bed; on other occasions he had “dead lobsters” placed in his
coat pockets, his bed propped up on soda cans, and the ;[ires of his car placed on wooden
blocks. Complainant was sprayed with chemical spray from a fire extinguisher 'as well as
~ being drenched continuously witﬁ buckets of water. He testified in a believable fashion
that he was given the “cold shoulder” every day énd that no oﬁe' would talk to him. He
offéred poignant testimony that the humiliating pranks to which he was subjected
depressed him, made it- difficult for him to concentrate at work, made him feel iike 10 one
liked hﬁn, and caused him to make mis,takes and forget things.

| There can be no dispute that Respondent’s supetrvisors were aware of the treatment
visited upon Complaina.nt. dn one occasion when he Baked a cake and servéd apieceto a
fellov_xAr firefighter, Deputy Nardelli said, “What did you do that for? He’s the reason why
you're ruﬁning around here soaking wet all the time.” On another occasion, a bucket of
water that W&"S inteﬁded_ for Complainant hit Captain Kerr. |

: Likewise, the evidence supportsh a conclusion that there was a causal connection,
_betweeﬁ Complainant’s disability and his harassment, Unremittingbharassment follqwed on

the heels of Complainant’s communication to Deputy Nardelli of his learning issues and
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depression. Although several supervisors maintained that they were not aware of
Complainant’s disability, I do not credit their claims in this regard. In any event, the

communication of Complainant’s disability to Deputy Nardelli serves as constructive:

notice to fhe Department. See Cooper v. Raytheon Co., 38 MDLR 28 (2016) (recognizing
constructive notice of need for an aécommodation where empléyee provided a power point
presentation to various supervisors of cognitive deficiencies and need to learn in new way). .

The treatment that Complainant réceived at Station 1 was not fhe type of good-natured
pranking Visﬁed upon other firefighters. It was more egregious, both in character and |
émount. C(_)lhbined_ with Complainant’s ostracism, the harassment established a material
alteration _of Complainant’s wofk en§ironment and compounded his learning difficulties.
Based on the foregoing, I conoludé that Compléiﬁant was subject to a hdstile work

environment based on his disability in violation of G.L. c. 151B.

C. Individual Liability
Respondent Brockton Fire Department is liable for damages based on the above

determination that it tolerated the existence of a hostile v{{ork environment at Station 1. See

College-Town, Division of Interco, Iric. v.MCAD, 400-Ma'ss 156, 165 (1987) (employer
Vicariously~1iablé for discriminatory conduct), As well, Complainant seeks to hold retired
Deputy Brian Nardelli individually liable for the same violations of G.L.c.151B.

- As Training Director through March of 2014, Deputy Nardelli exercised authority
over the terms and conditioris of Complaipant’s employment. Howéver,.he did not do so
individuaﬂy but in concert with Chief Francis and others on the Fire Deparfsmént command
staff. As far as harassment is concerned, it appears that other supervisors and officers were

more responsible for the toxic atmosphere at Station I than was Deputy Nardelli.
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Accordingly, I decline to hold Deputy Nardelli individually liable. See Woodason v.

Town of Norton School Commitiee, 25 MDLR 62, 64 (20035 (Full Commission)
(individual liability where person who has authority to act on behalf of employer
demonstrates intent to discriminate by acting in deliberate disregard of Complainant’s
rights).
1V, Remedy
Updn_ é ﬁnding of unlawful discrimination, the Commiésion is authoriéed to award

damages for the emotional distress suffered as a direct result of discrimination. See

Stonehill College_: v. MCAD, 441 Mass. 549 (2004); Buckley Nursing Home v. MCAD, 20
Mass. App. Ct. 172, 182-183 (1988). An award of emotional distress damages must rest on
substantial evidence that is ;:ausally-connected to the unlawfql act of discriinination and
take into consideration the nature and character of the alleged harm, the se\.rerity of the

harm, the length of time the Complainant has or expects to suffer, and whether

Complainant has attempted to rriitigate the harm. See Stonehill College, 441 Mass. at 576.
Complainant’s entitlement to an award of monetary damages for emotional distress can be

based on expert testimony and/or Complainant’s own testimony regarding the cause of the

distress. Seeid. at 576; Buckley Nursing Home, 20 Mass. App. Ct. at 182-i83. Proof of
physical injury or ps‘ychiatri_c consultaﬁon provides suppbrt for an éward of emotional
distress but is not necessaiy for such damages. See Stonehill, 441 Mass. at 576.
Complainant testified that during his tenure at Station' 1 he felt unwelcome and was
ostracized. Het states that he was gixz.en the “cold shoulder” every day and that no 61‘16

would talk to him. He claims that the pranks he was subjected to were humiliating and that
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they made it difficult for him to concentréte at work. Complainant testified thaf the
treatment depressed him and made him feel like no one liked him,

| Not all of fhe emotional distress described by Complaiﬁant can be attributed to his
expetience at Station 1, however. Complainant was also profoundly affected by being
terminated. Cdmplaiﬁant testified that after being dismissed as a firefighter, he found it
difficult to get oﬁi: of bed for three months, he became Very angry, he lpst friends, and he
had issues with his short-term memory. He was forced to stop seeing a mental health
counselor that he had been seeing singe 2007 because he lost his health insuraﬁce. The
emotional impact of terminatiop, while profouhd, is not bompensable because Complainant
failed to prevail on his claim of failure to accommodate. P;of this reason, I decline to
apportion all of the emotional distress which Complainant experienced at the Brockton Fire-

Department to his harassment at Station 1. See DeRoach v MCAD, 447 Mass. 1, 8 (2006) .

(emotional distress must be causally-connected to finding of discrimination).

Based on the foregoing, I conclude that Complainant is entitied to $40,000.00A in

emotional distress damages.
V. ORDER

Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law and pursuant to the
authority granted to the Commission under G. L. . 15 1B, sec. 5, Respondents are subject

to the following orders:

(1) Asinjunctive relief, the Respondent Brockton Fire Department is directed to

cease and desist from engaging in acts of disability harassment,

29




H

(2) The Respondent Brockton Fire Department is liable to pay Complainant the sum
of § 40,000.00 in emotional distress damages, plus-interest at the statutory rate of
12% per annum from the date of the filing of the complaint, untll paid, or until’
this order is reduced to a court Judgment and post-judgment interest begms to
accrue.

(3) The Respondent Brockton Fire Department shall conduct, within one hundred
twenty (120) days of the recetpt of this decision, a training of its supervisory
staff. Such training shall focus on all facets of disability discrimination. The
chosen trainer shall submit a draft training agenda to the Commission’s Director -
of Training at least one month prior to the trammé date, along with notice of the
training date and location. The Commission has the right to send a
representative to observe the tratning session. Following the training session,
Respondent shall send to the Commission the names ot‘ persons ttvhe attended the

1

training.

This decision represents the final order of the Hearing Officer. Anyv. party aggrieved by |
this Order may appeal this decision to the Full Commission, To do 50, a.party must file
a Notice of Appeal with the Clerk ot‘ the Commission within ten (10) days after the

receipt of this Order and a Petition for Revietv within thirty (30) days of receipt of this . -

Order.

So ordered this 11th day of April, 2018,




. Bﬁ%ﬁsq.,
Hearing Officer
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